

1		and the second s	
100 mg	10 A	Real Property in the	
COLUMN 1		FORMER WY	
0	1	The second se	R

Accessing on-premises data from IBM Planning Analytics Cloud with *IBM Secure Gateway*:

What is it, how does it work, and how can it be configured?

V1.51

Last Updated: November 2019

Created By:

Andreas Kugelmeier Executive Consultant Planning Analytics Architect IBM Data and Al Expert Labs Mobile Phone: +1-215-384-7302 Email: kugelmeier@us.ibm.com

Mike Bender Solution Architect IBM Analytics, Data Science, and Business Analytics



Notices & Disclaimers

Copyright © 2019 by International Business Machines Corporation (IBM). No part of this document may be reproduced or transmitted in any form without written permission from IBM.

U.S. Government Users Restricted Rights - Use, duplication or disclosure restricted by GSA ADP Schedule Contract with IBM.

Information in these presentations and papers (including information relating to products that have not yet been announced by IBM) has been reviewed for accuracy as of the date of initial publication and could include unintentional technical or typographical errors. IBM shall have no responsibility to update this information. THIS document is distributed "AS IS" without any warranty, either express or implied. In no event shall IBM be liable for any damage arising from the use of this information, including but not limited to, loss of data, business interruption, loss of profit or loss of opportunity. IBM products and services are warranted according to the terms and conditions of the agreements under which they are provided.

Any statements regarding IBM's future direction, intent or product plans are subject to change or withdrawal without notice.

Performance data contained herein was generally obtained in a controlled, isolated environments. Customer examples are presented as illustrations of how those customers have used IBM products and the results they may have achieved. Actual performance, cost, savings or other results in other operating environments may vary.

References in this document to IBM products, programs, or services does not imply that IBM intends to make such products, programs or services available in all countries in which IBM operates or does business.

Workshops, sessions and associated materials may have been prepared by independent session speakers, and do not necessarily reflect the views of IBM. All materials and discussions are provided for informational purposes only, and are neither intended to, nor shall constitute legal or other guidance or advice to any individual participant or their specific situation.

It is the customer's responsibility to insure its own compliance with legal requirements and to obtain advice of competent legal counsel as to the identification and interpretation of any relevant laws and regulatory requirements that may affect the customer's business and any actions the customer may need to take to comply with such laws. IBM does not provide legal advice or represent or warrant that its services or products will ensure that the customer is in compliance with any law.

Information concerning non-IBM products was obtained from the suppliers of those products, their published announcements or other publicly available sources. IBM has not tested those products in connection with this publication and cannot confirm the accuracy of performance, compatibility or any other claims related to non-IBM products. Questions on the capabilities of non-IBM products should be addressed to the suppliers of those products. IBM does not warrant the quality of any third-party products, or the ability of any such third-party products to interoperate with IBM's products. IBM expressly disclaims all warranties, expressed or implied, including but not limited to, the implied warranties of merchantability and fitness for a particular purpose.

The provision of the information contained herein is not intended to, and does not, grant any right or license under any IBM patents, copyrights, trademarks or other intellectual property right.

IBM, the IBM logo, ibm.com, Aspera®, Bluemix, Blueworks Live, CICS, Clearcase, Cognos®, DOORS®, Emptoris®, Enterprise Document Management System[™], FASP®, FileNet®, Global Business Services ®, Global Technology Services ®, IBM ExperienceOne[™], IBM SmartCloud®, IBM Social Business®, Information on Demand, ILOG, Maximo®, MQIntegrator®, MQSeries®, Netcool®, OMEGAMON, OpenPower, PureAnalytics[™], PureApplication®, pureCluster[™], PureCoverage®, PureData®, PureExperience®, PureFlex®, pureQuery®, pureScale®, PureSystems®, QRadar®, Rational®, Rhapsody®, Smarter Commerce®, SoDA, SPSS, Sterling Commerce®, StoredIQ, Tealeaf®, Tivoli®, Trusteer®, Unica®, urban{code}®, Watson, WebSphere®, Worklight®, X-Force® and System z® Z/OS, are trademarks of International Business Machines Corporation, registered in many jurisdictions worldwide. Other product and service names might be trademarks of IBM or other companies. A current list of IBM trademarks is available on the Web at "Copyright and trademark information" at: www.ibm.com/legal/copytrade.shtml.

- IBM's statements regarding its plans, directions, and intent are subject to change or withdrawal without notice at IBM's sole discretion.
- Information regarding potential future products is intended to outline our general product direction and it should not be relied on in making a purchasing decision.
- The information mentioned regarding potential future products is not a commitment, promise, or legal obligation to deliver any material, code or functionality. Information about potential future products may not be incorporated into any contract.
- The development, release, and timing of any future features or functionality described for our products remains at our sole discretion.

Performance is based on measurements and projections using standard IBM benchmarks in a controlled environment. The actual throughput or performance that any user will experience will vary depending upon many factors, including considerations such as the amount of multiprogramming in the user's job stream, the I/O configuration, the storage configuration, and the workload processed. Therefore, no assurance can be given that an individual user will achieve results similar to those stated here.



Document Version History

Date	Version	Author	Description
3/7/2016	0.9	Andreas Kugelmeier	1 st Draft/Pre-Release Version
3/7/2016	0.95	Andreas Kugelmeier	2 st Draft/Pre-Release Version
3/15/2016	0.96	Andreas Kugelmeier	3 rd Draft/Pre-Release Version
3/18/2016	1.0	Andreas Kugelmeier	1 st Version
3/31/2016	1.01	Andreas Kugelmeier	added information on TLS Version(s) and cipher suite
4/5/2016	1.02	Andreas Kugelmeier	Add Oracle Example
4/8/2016	1.03	Andreas Kugelmeier	Update Secure Gateway Client Installer Download Link
4/25/2016	1.04	Andreas Kugelmeier	Add material on Docker technology
5/17/2016	1.05	Andreas Kugelmeier	Addtl. information on ACL file requirements; addtl. information on Docker client
6/2/2016	1.1	Andreas Kugelmeier	Misc. updates related to SGW client version 1.5
8/8/2016	1.15	Andreas Kugelmeier	Add commentary on time needed to install new ODBC drivers in Cloud env.
2/3/2017	1.16	Andreas Kugelmeier	Edits to section on Firewall/Load-Balancer Node
3/6/2017	1.17	Andreas Kugelmeier	Update SGW architecture & data flow diagram
7/14/2017	1.18	Andreas Kugelmeier	Minor edits to section 4.4.2
11/26/2018	1.2	Andreas Kugelmeier	Misc. updates
2/22/2019	1.3	Andreas Kugelmeier	Add section on SGW vs VPN
04/02/2019	1.4	Andreas Kugelmeier	Update screenshots
04/04/2019	1.45	Andreas Kugelmeier	Update misc. IBM Cloud (Bluemix) SGW links
04/05/2019	1.46	Andreas Kugelmeier	Add SGW analogy graphics, misc. updates
04/05/2019	1.47	Andreas Kugelmeier	Add DeveloperWorks link
04/10/2019	1 48	Andreas Kugelmeier	Remove reference to welcome kit logon credentials for SGW administration (no longer
07/10/2019	1.70		needed with PAW Administration Panel
11/25/2019	15	Andreas Kugelmeier	Misc. updates re laod balancer / authentication server target URLs/Addresses and Proxy
11/25/2015	1.5	Andreas Ragelineler	Configuration of SGW Client (authored by Mike Bender)
11/26/3019	1.51	Andreas Kugelmeier	Addl. Information re Proxy setup



Table of Contents

1. Al	bout this document	6
2. In	nportant Links	7
3. Se	ecure Gateway – Introduction	9
3.1	What Is It?	9
3.2	How does it work?	9
3.3	How is a Secure Gateway different from a VPN?	10
4. IE	3M Secure Gateway Specs & Facts	11
4.1	Supported Protocols	11
4.2	Tunneling Protocol	11
4.3 4.1	Secure Gateway Clients	11 11
4.	3.2 Differences	11
4.4 4.4	Security: Authentication & Encryption 4.1 Authentication	12 12
4.	4.2 Encryption	12
4.5 4.	Availability, Scalability & Load Balancing 5.1 Availability, Scalability & Load Balancing: The Secure Gateway Service on IBI	13 M Cloud13
4.	5.2 Availability & Scalability: The Secure Gateway Client	13
4.6	Communication Ports & Network/Firewall Configuration Requirements	13
4.7	Provisioning, Installation & Configuration Process	14
4.8	Secure Gateway Architecture and Data Flow Diagram	15
5. Se	ecure Gateway Analogy: Secured & Ultra-Private Traffic Tunnels	16
6. Se	ecure Gateway Example: Connecting to SQL Server, DB2, Oracle	18
6.1	Configure and Test ODBC access on premises	18
6.2	Create the Gateway Service	18
6.	2.1 Earlier PA Cloud releases	18
о. с э	2.2 Current PA Cloud Release	21
6.3 6.1	3.1 Proxy Setup	25 25
6.	3.2 Native IBM Secure Gateway Client	26
	6.3.2.1 Installation	26
	6.3.2.2 Startup & Configuration	27
	6.3.2.2.1 Manual Startup & Configuration Essentials	28
	6.3.2.2.2 Secure Gateway Client UI (as of Client Version 1.5)	33
	6.3.2.2.3 Startup as a Windows Service	36
6.	3.3 Secure Gateway Client via Docker	37
	6.3.3.1 Installation	37
	6.3.3.2 Startup and configuration	37



6.4 Secure	Gateway Destinations: Data Source Setup and Configuration	39
6.4.1 DSN	Setup and Configuration: The Configuration Panel	39
6.4.2 DSN	Setup and Configuration: SQL Server Example	41
6.4.3 DSN	Setup and Configuration: DB2 Server Example	43
6.4.4 DSN	Setup and Configuration: Oracle Example	44
6.4.5 DSN	Troubleshooting	45
6.4.6 The	Secure Gateway Dashboard	47
6.4.6.1	The Dashboard with DSNs	47
6.4.6.2	Changing DSNs	47
6.4.6.3	Using the DSN	49
6.4.6.3	.1 SQL Server Example	49
6.4.6.3	.2 DB2 Example	49
7. Appendix_		50
7.1 ODBC (Configuration	50
7.1.1 DB2		50
7.1.1.1	DB2 ODBC Driver Download	50
7.1.1.2	DB2 ODBC Driver Installation & Registration	50
7.1.1.3	Bind CLI/ODBC	50
7.1.1.4	Register the DB for ODBC	51
7.1.1.5	Test the connection	51
7.1.2 SQL	Server	52
7.1.2.1	SQL Server Database Port	52



1. About this document

IBM Secure Gateway provides customers with a secure method to access on-premises or cloud data from within IBM Planning Analytics. This document introduces the IBM Secure Gateway technology and provides information on infrastructure requirements, configuration options, authentication & security as it pertains to IBM Planning Analytics.



2. Important Links

- Documentation for Secure Gateway in IBM Planning Analytics: <u>https://www.ibm.com/support/knowledgecenter/en/SSD29G_2.0.0/com.ibm.swg.ba.cognos.tm1_pris_m_gs.2.0.0.doc/c_paw_administer_secure_gateway.html</u>
- Secure Gateway (IBM Cloud / Bluemix): <u>https://www.ibm.com/cloud/secure-gateway</u> Online doc: <u>https://cloud.ibm.com/docs/services/SecureGateway?topic=securegateway-getting-started-with-sg&locale=en#getting-started-with-sg</u> API docs: <u>https://cloud.ibm.com/apidocs/secure-gateway</u> DeveloperWorks Recipe: <u>https://developer.ibm.com/recipes/tutorials/how-to-integrate-ibm-secure-gateway-to-a-solution/</u>

Q,

- Secure Gateway Clients:
 - IBM Secure Gateway Client:

From the Planning Analytics Secure Gateway Panel (go to <u>https://<yourPlanningAnalyticsEnvironment>.planning-analytics.ibmcloud.com/monitor/</u>, then click on 'Secure Gateway), click the download button

Secure		
Gateway	Search	

And fol	low the inst uld you like to	tructions on connect to this	the scree	en:	×
1 Select below operat	option 2 for your ing system.	Locate installation documentation in Bluemix docs or the README.md file provided.	3 Install the download client.	e ded	
Software	e installers				
⊖AIX 7.1+	OUbuntu 14+	⊖ Windows	⊖ Mac OSX	ORHEL 6+ MD5	
⊖AIX 7.1+	OUbuntu 14+ MD5 Ubuntu 14+ PPC	Windows MD5	⊖ Mac OSX MD5	⊖ RHEL 6+	l
			Cancel	Download	

To directly download the Native Secure Gateway Clients you can also use the following URL: <u>https://sgmanager.ng.bluemix.net/v1/getClientList</u>

• Docker (Windows, Mac OS X, most Linux flavours/platforms): https://docs.docker.com/engine/installation/#installation



For windows, see <u>https://docs.docker.com/windows/step_one/</u> for instructions and <u>https://www.docker.com/products/docker-toolbox</u> to download



3. Secure Gateway – Introduction

3.1 What Is It?

Secure Gateway – via its underlying tunnelling protocol - allows providing a network service that the underlying network does not or should not support or provide directly. The secure gateway tunnel hence can be thought of as a secure tunnel that connects networks without requiring the networks to open their source and destination addresses and protocols. Only the secure gateway tunnel needs to be open. The Secure Gateway service hence provides you with a secure method to access your on-premises or cloud data from your IBM Planning Analytics application through a secure passageway (a secure tunnel).

3.2 How does it work?

The Secure Gateway Service works by using a *Secure Gateway Client* to establish a secure tunnel to a *Secure Gateway Service* on the IBM Bluemix cloud from where the IBM Planning Analytics cloud environment (on IBM Cloud) can be accessed.



The secure gateway tunnel is established via a secure tunneling protocol connection similar to SSH¹. The tunneling protocol provides an encrypted shell for information transfer via the gateway tunnel, such that even unencrypted data can travel in safety because the data is re-packaged and sent over the encrypted shell through the tunnel.

In other words: via the secure gateway shell, other protocols such as TCP, TLS, HTTP or HTTPS are 'tunneled' from the gateway service on the cloud to the destination (the gateway client on-premises). Once the packets reach the end of the tunnel (they are 'on-premises'), they are 'unpacked' to their original protocol and will 'proceed' as per their original configuration.

The gateway tunnel connection (the tunnel) needs to be opened by the on-premises gateway client (it cannot be opened by the gateway service itself). At the same time, while the gateway client opens the connection, it cannot request information from the cloud via the gateway service connection: The gateway service connection is uni-directional in the sense that all requests have to be initiated by the IBM Planning Analytics (Cloud) environment. This means the cloud environment – similar to a database client - has to initiate the request against the on-premises system. Requests can be of types READ/WRITE of course, but they have to be initiated by the Cloud environment.²

¹ https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Tunneling_protocol#Secure_Shell_tunneling

² The IBM Secure Gateway Client itself as of version 1.4.0 does support bi-directional connectivity. For more information, see <u>https://developer.ibm.com/bluemix/2015/12/15/ibm-secure-gateway-updates-version-140/</u>. Yet note that bi-directional connectivity is at this time not enabled for Planning Analytics, providing an additional safety measure in that the Planning Analytics environment cannot be queried via the secure gateway.



3.3 How is a Secure Gateway different from a VPN?

https://developer.ibm.com/recipes/tutorials/ibm-cloud-secure-gateway-service-vs-vpns-whats-thedifference/



4. IBM Secure Gateway Specs & Facts

4.1 Supported Protocols

The IBM Secure Gateway tunnel supports the following protocols for the cloud to destination data connection: TCP, HTTP, HTTPS, TLS³. See <Security: Authentication & Encryption> below for more information on TLS.

4.2 **Tunneling Protocol**

The secure gateway tunnel is established via a secure tunnelling protocol connection similar to SSH in that it is established from one side, is encrypted, is long-lived, and can flow data both up and down stream. The specific technology is a TLS secure websocket that starts as an HTTPS connection and gets upgraded to a WSS connection. This results in a long-lived, bi-directional tunnel that is secured using the same TLS layer protocol as an HTTPS connection.⁴

4.3 Secure Gateway Clients

4.3.1 Client Options

Secure Gateway client installers are available for Linux, Windows & Mac OS. Options are

- a) Native IBM Secure Gateway Client
- b) Docker Client (which runs the IBM Secure Gateway Client in a Docker Container⁵)
- c) DataPower Client

See <Important Links> for installation information and download links.

4.3.2 Differences

The IBM Secure Gateway native installation package has slightly better performance as Docker virtualizes the container. Both packages can run several clients. The Docker client on the other hand updates more easily as it will download the Docker IBM Secure Gateway package on start-up.

The DataPower option is an appliance optimized solution (for WebSphere SOA Data Power Appliances) with the same base features as the Docker client but with more security enforcements.

ECDHE-RSA-AES128-GCM-SHA256: ECDHE-ECDSA-AES128-GCM-SHA256: ECDHE-RSA-AES256-GCM-SHA384: ECDHE-ECDSA-AES256-GCM-SHA384: DHE-RSA-AES128-GCM-SHA256: ECDHE-RSA-AES128-SHA256: DHE-RSA-AES128-SHA256: FCDHF-RSA-AFS256-SHA384: DHE-RSA-AES256-SHA384: ECDHE-RSA-AES256-SHA256: DHE-RSA-AES256-SHA256: HIGH: !aNULL: !eNULL: !EXPORT: IDFS. !RC4: !MD5: **!PSK:**

ISRP: ICAMELLIA

³ <u>https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Transport Layer Security</u>

⁴ IBM Secure Gateway TLS is using the native node processes, which uses OpenSSL. OpenSSL supports up to TLS 1.3. Encryption algorithms are using the following corresponding default cipher suite:

⁵ See <u>https://www.docker.com/what-docker</u>. The Docker Container includes the IBM Secure Gateway Client software application and all of its dependencies. Compared to a VM, a Docker Container does not have a 'Guest OS', but would share its Docker kernel with other containers that may be running on the same computer. Docker Containers run as an isolated process in userspace on the host operating system and will run on any computer.



4.4 Security: Authentication & Encryption

4.4.1 Authentication

The gateway service can be configured to generate a JSON Web Token (JWT) and to then require the client to use this security token as an authentication mechanism.⁶ Tokens can be set to expire, i.e. to have to be renewed. The token expiration timeframe can be specified in days.

4.4.2 Encryption

The data travelling through the Secure Gateway tunnel is 'wrapped' in an encrypted secure shell, i.e. the tunnel itself is encrypted and hence protected. The specific technology is a TLS secure websocket that starts as an HTTPS connection and gets upgraded to a WSS connection. This results in a long-lived, bidirectional tunnel that is secured using the same TLS layer protocol as an HTTPS connection.

In the Future, optional additional protocol, authentication and encryption methods for the Planning Analytics Secure Gateway will be HTTPS or TCP over TLS⁷:

- A) Client-Side TLS to secure the on-premises connection between the database and Gateway Client:
 - TLS Client-Side Authentication: In IBM Cloud, will allow the customer to upload certificates if desired. Note that certificates would not have to be uploaded if the TLS certificate is not selfsigned, in which case select 'Enable Client TLS' on the data source destination and then any connection to the data source destination succeeds once the destination's certificate is verified against known certificate authorities.
- B) Application-Side TLS to secure the connection between Gateway Client and Planning Analytics:
 - **TLS Server-Side authentication:** Only the server needs to present its certificate
 - **TLS Mutual Authentication**: Both Server and Client need to present their certificates. TLS Mutual Authentication is the best choice for any connections that handle sensitive data transfers. In IBM Cloud, Certificates and keys can be generated by the Gateway Service by checking the "Auto generate cert and private key" box. The Certificate can them be downloaded to be used by the Client. Alternatively, one can upload their own certificates.
- C) HTTPS:
 - HTTPS: Only the server needs to present its certificate
 - **HTTPS Mutual Authentication**: Both Server and Client need to present their certificates.

Note that TLS and HTTPS are supported by the IBM Cloud Secure Gateway technology, the corresponding configuration for **TLS and HTTPS to upload certificates is currently** <u>not yet</u> **supported by the Planning Analytics Secure Gateway Configuration UI. The Planning Analytics Secure Gateway will support such TLS and HTTPS configuration in the future.** Once available, corresponding documentation on UI-related configuration options and examples will be provided in an update to this document.

⁶ See <u>https://jwt.io/introduction/</u> & <u>https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/JSON_Web_Token</u> for additional information on JWTs.
⁷ <u>https://console.bluemix.net/docs/services/SecureGateway/securegateway_destination.html#adding-a-destination</u>



4.5 Availability, Scalability & Load Balancing

4.5.1 Availability, Scalability & Load Balancing: The Secure Gateway Service on IBM Cloud

The IBM Secure Gateway Service Platform consists of a **multi-tenant, highly available and load balanced bare metal cluster of several static servers that share the hosting of all the gateways**. Each gateway destination (=endpoint) gets a unique host/port combination from one of the available servers, and - using mutual authentication - prevents any other applications from utilizing that connection. The IP addresses of the secure gateway servers do not change, even in case of failover.

4.5.2 Availability & Scalability: The Secure Gateway Client

As of release 1.4, the **Secure Gateway Client supports High Availability**: Multiple gateway clients can connect to a single gateway by starting them using the same gateway ID. The connection to these clients is load balanced by using round robin to prevent a single point of failure in the connections. If one of the clients goes down, you'll still be able to connect to the on-premises resource through another client that is still connected. Assuming you have two separate gateway clients, each of them on its own machine. To get the round robin working, all you need is to start the client on each machine (using the same command)

As of release 1.4, the secure gateway client can run in so-called 'multi-gateway' mode, allowing multiple gateway connections to be created from a single client instance rather than requiring a new client for each gateway connection, thereby improving usability and configurability. An example of how to run the client in multi-gateway mode with Planning Analytics is shown in section <Multi-Gateway Mode>.

The client HW requirements are strongly related to the number of concurrent connections that the client will be handling. Also, depending on data volume, memory usage for buffering can grow relatively high on a single client if it's handling a large amount of throughput and a lot of connections. CPU utilization will be higher when using TLS encryption. Examples: A 2 CPU - 4GB machine would be sufficient for one or two client instances with moderate traffic (concurrency). A 4CPU - 8GB machine would be recommended for hosting three clients with heavier traffic.

Note that in a Planning Analytics Context, concurrency on the Secure Gateway tends to be relatively low, as end-users typically will not often interact directly with an on-premises database.

4.6 Communication Ports & Network/Firewall Configuration Requirements

The Secure Gateway Client uses outbound ports 443 (SSL) & 9000 to connect to the IBM Cloud environment.

On client start-up, the

- first call goes to the DataPower proxy load-balancer on port 443 for authentication. Outbound target:
 - For SG client v180fp9 and former
 - US South: sgmanager.ng.bluemix.net
 - US East: sgmanager.us-east.bluemix.net
 - United Kingdom: sgmanager.eu-gb.bluemix.net
 - Germany: sgmanager.eu-de.bluemix.net
 - Sydney: sgmanager.au-syd.bluemix.net
 - For SG client v181 and later
 - US South: sgmanager.us-south.securegateway.cloud.ibm.com
 - US East: sgmanager.us-east.securegateway.cloud.ibm.com
 - United Kingdom: sgmanager.eu-gb.securegateway.cloud.ibm.com
 - Germany: sgmanager.eu-de.securegateway.cloud.ibm.com
 - Sydney: sgmanager.au-syd.securegateway.cloud.ibm.com



• The second call goes directly to one of the IBM Secure Gateway Service Server nodes on port 9000. The IP addresses for those Secure Gateway Servers are not published, but are available upon request if needed (for firewall configuration).

The tunnel connection between the Secure Gateway Client and the Secure Gateway Service does send ping-pong messages back and forth. If disconnected, the client will automatically attempt to reconnect to the server every 5 seconds.

4.7 **Provisioning, Installation & Configuration Process**

- 1. **Gateway Service**: Create one or more Gateway Services by using your IBM Planning Analytics Control Panel. The Gateway Services are thereby provisioned for you on the IBM Cloud. Provisioning a Secure Gateway Service in the IBM Planning Analytics Control Panel will provide you with the gateway unique gateway ID to use when connecting a Secure Gateway Client.
- 2. **Gateway Client Installation**: install the gateway client, which can be a Docker container (with Docker Engine), a virtual DataPower container/engine, or IBM Secure Gateway native clients for Linux, Mac & Windows.
- 3. Start the Gateway Client
- 4. **Establish Gateway tunnel connection**: using the gateway ID and security authentication token, establish the secure gateway tunnel connection from the client.
- 5. **Create Gateway Destinations**: Once you have created the gateway service, you need to configure gateway destinations (data sources). The Gateway Cloud destinations (hostname/IP + port) get created when creating a new data source. Each destination (=endpoint) created in the Secure Gateway service will have a unique cloud host and Port. This unique cloud host is mapped to a unique IP address that is independent from the application itself. This IP address is static and can be filtered at the firewall level. Authentication and Data Encryption is configured per Gateway Destination.
- 6. **Gateway Client Configuration**: Configure the gateway client(s) as needed/desired, configuring access control by using access control lists etc.
- 7. Test the gateway destinations/data sources



4.8 Secure Gateway Architecture and Data Flow Diagram





5. Secure Gateway Analogy: Secured & Ultra-Private Traffic Tunnels

Let's say you work in NYC and live in New Jersey. Unfortunately, you have to commute by car:



Now, in order to alleviate traffic congestion in the Lincoln & Holland tunnels the Port Authority of New York and New Jersey are offering a futuristic, new tunneling service, called the Gateway Service, connecting NYC (the cloud) with New Jersey (on-premises).

As a New York and New Jersey resident you would get your own private tunnel. Tunnels are created as if by magic (they do not need to be dug) in that they are established almost immediately. It's like platform 9³/₄ at King's Cross, but you do not have to run into a wall. The port authority is customer-friendly.



That's pretty nice you would say, I'll never be stuck in Lincoln Tunnel traffic again! Well, it gets even better: each private tunnel is configured to lead straight home, connecting your company's NYC car garage (fortunately, your company provides free parking) to the garage of your home in New Jersey. In other words, you 'tunnel right-through' from your apartment building to your garage, privately and unseen by other vehicles & drivers. It follows that with this tunnel you never have to worry about inner city traffic, freeways, dangerous neighborhoods and so forth.⁸ And you do not even have to drive yourself: The tunnel itself provides its own transport vehicle (it has a rather strange name in that it is named 'the secure shell', but it is more comfortable than it suggests):



Once in the tunnel and for as long as being in the tunnel, vehicles of different kinds and with different cargo are transported by and within the tunnel's transport vehicle. The tunnel's transport vehicle supports the commonly used vehicle kinds (trucks, limos with tinted windows, protected motorcades, you name it). The port authority gives them cryptic names like TCP, HTTP, HTTPS, TLS.

⁸ For the sake of maintaining the integrity of our analogy, let us just assume that unlimited parking is available in your garage as well as for your NYC apartment.

Accessing on-premises data from IBM Planning Analytics Cloud with IBM Secure Gateway: What is it, how does it work, and how can it be configured?



Each tunnel has its own unique address on the NYC side. They call it the gateway ID. Tunnel addresses are not shared and not made public. To actually use the tunnel and get to a room within your house, you need to provide additional information: Each room needs to be mapped via a distinct route, using a distinct and specific call name (the cloud destination host name and port) and secured individually. The dispatcher (some call him the Turbo-Integrator or TI - he closely works with a guy referred to as the ODBC driver⁹, & together they make up the dispatcher team) on the NYC side only gets to know the tunnel- & destination-specific call name; it does not need to get to know the final destination's name (the room). The final destination (the room) is conveyed to the vehicle once the vehicle is on the New Jersey side, i.e. in the house where the destination address 'Living Room' makes sense and is unique (the Port authority has some funky names for their living rooms , they are given names like 192.168.1.15). To put it differently, the dispatcher (that TI guy with the driver support) thinks he speaks to destination Andy:12345. But Andy:12345 is only an intermediary call name (for a destination 129.168.1.15:5000 for example.

You may use one tunnel to access multiple rooms (destinations). Or you may use multiple tunnels to multiple rooms. It depends on how you would like to monitor/handle and govern traffic to your house. If for example you would like to be able to shut down traffic to one room in particular, it may be more useful to create a separate tunnel for that room.

The Port Authority takes your security and safety very seriously and furthermore provides several options for you to increase security and safety:

- If a tunnel collapses, other tunnels are on standby to immediately fill in. The new tunnel will take on the address of the old tunnel. Traffic gets re-routed immediately.
- You can secure your tunnel by requiring vehicles to identify themselves via a private token (the Port Authority calls it the JSON Web Token). If you do not have the token key, forget about using the tunnel. If you easily forget your keys, keep the tokens at home in a secure place or – if you did not do that - contact your tunnel service to issue you a new key. The keys can be set up to automatically stop functioning (to expire) in which case you have to ask the tunnel service to issue you a new key.
- Each tunnel is uni-directional, meaning traffic requests must be dispatched from NYC (the cloud) only. In other words: you cannot use the tunnel to drive to NYC without being invited (called on). You can also not use the tunnel network to try to break into a tunnel towards NYC to enter someone's NYC apartment. You have to be invited by the folks in your NYC apartment to use the tunnel (well, you could invite yourself too). NYC must initiate the request for information/traffic. Traffic can go both ways, i.e. NYC may request a packet to be delivered from home and NYC may send something back upon request of the packet. But tunnel-use requests cannot be made from home.
- You can explicitly block traffic from reaching a particular room or allow traffic to reach it. This is done via so-called Access Control Lists (ACL, not related to Anterior Cruciate Ligaments). By default, a tunnel connection is blocked at the garage door and not allowed to enter any room. You can block and/or allow rooms per tunnel connection, i.e. you can use a particular tunnel only for a particular room etc.
- One cannot put a camera inside the tunnel to see what and who is travelling. The tunnel itself is secured using camouflage (encryption technology); the vehicles and vehicle content that are being tunneled will be made unrecognizable while travelling through the tunnel.
- In case you are concerned about being seen while travelling to and from the tunnel: You may have your tunnels require the use of additional camouflage (encryption technology) to disguise the vehicle content entering and exiting the tunnel.

⁹ Not to be confused with <u>The Driver</u>.

Accessing on-premises data from IBM Planning Analytics Cloud with IBM Secure Gateway: What is it, how does it work, and how can it be configured?

6. Secure Gateway Example: Connecting to SQL Server, DB2, Oracle

Now let's apply what we learned about Secure Gateway to setting up an ODBC database connection between the cloud and an on-premises database: Let's assume you have a SQL Server database on your premises. The Database is hosted on <mySQLserver>.<yourcompany>.com, port 49244. You would like to connect your TM1 Server on Planning Analytics with this database. You also have a DB2 Database. It is hosted on the same server (in our example case) and runs on port 50000. In the following examples, we will use the Database Server's IP address, but the machine name can also be used. The IP address of the machine in our example is 192.168.1.15.

6.1 Configure and Test ODBC access on premises

Test ODBC access: On a client machine within your network domain (on-premises), ensure you can access the SQL Server and DB2 Server databases via ODBC, using the desired network protocol and authentication mechanism. This step is important. The secure gateway ODBC connection will only work if the destination server accepts the ODBC connection and if you provide it with the proper parameters. Do not test ODBC on the cloud, test it on premises first.

6.2 Create the Gateway Service

6.2.1 Earlier PA Cloud releases

Create a Secure Gateway Service: Now that you have tested and validated ODBC access, you create a secure gateway service. You do so via Planning Analytics control, which is at

https:// <yourPlanningAnalyticsEnvironment>.planning-analytics.ibmcloud.com/control/ The specific URL and login information are provided with your welcome kit.¹⁰



Once you have logged into the control panel, click the lock icon (the icon below the cube icon) and click + to create a new gateway. Let's call it RDBMSGateway. We will have the gateway enforce a security token, meaning we will want the Gateway clients to authenticate themselves with a security token generated by the Gateway service. This way, no unauthorized client can connect to the gateway:

1 4	्र 😤 🔍 https://«yourPlanningAr	alyticsEnvironment>.planning-analytics	ibmcloud.com/control/	
B				
			Create Secure Gateway	×
8	Create Secure Gateway	SecOtwyTest2 Swetco Disconnected Data sources: 0	Galeway Name Enforce Security Totex Reset Orante Control	

Click 'Create'. The information in the grey window is important:

¹⁰ For the user name and pw, look for the following information in your welcome kit:

Use the following login credentials to control TM1 services: User name Password control <Password>

For the URL for the Planning Analytics control panel, look for the following information in your welcome kit:

You can stop and start TM1 services and configure your connection to on-premises ODBC data sources using this web application. https://<yourPlanningAnalyticsEnvironment>.planning-analytics.ibmcloud.com/control/







It contains

• information on the gateway client files location (this is for Docker only):



• The gateway ID:



• The security token



If you use Docker as the 'Client' platform to run the secure gateway client, you can just copy and paste the command

docker run -it ibmcom/secure-gateway-client <GatewayID> --sectoken <JWT>

into a Docker command line window. If you do use the native IBM Secure Gateway Client to run the Secure Gateway client, all you will need is the gateway ID and the security token. We will cover this later in the gateway client section <Secure Gateway Client via Docker>.



In any case, at this time, for now just copy this text into your clipboard:

<u> 1</u>	3M Planning Analytics Conti	rol		
8	Create Secure Gateway	SecOlvyTest2 Parally Descrittorro Ostanourow 0	Create Secure Gateway General form form form form form form form form	×
				X 99

Then click 'close' to exit the window.

About the data in the clipboard: Don't worry about accidentally overwriting/losing it, because you can always get it back: click on the <u>accidentally</u> at the top right of the gateway tile:



then click on 'Edit/View':



and you will be able to (re-)retrieve all information needed to connect to the gateway service:

C	IBM Planning	Analytics Control	-
		RDBMSGateway Details	×
		Gateway Name	
8	Create Se	RDBMSGateway	
~		Gateway ID	
	-	Си	
		Gateway Key e, source and the second stand of the second standard and the second standard s	E 13
		An 2 An 1	
		Docker Command docker run -it ibmcom/secure-gateway-client A,	
	SecG	Docker Command with Secure Token docker run -it ibmcom/secure-gateway-client /	. 8
	n	C "Firsted weak way of the second sec	7 8
	DISCO	Constand	
		2016-03-02T13:55:54.051Z	
	Datas	Last Modified 2016-03-02113:55:54.051Z	
		Update Close	
			_



I

6.2.2 Current PA Cloud Release

Create a Secure Gateway Service: Now that you have tested and validated ODBC access, you create a secure gateway service.

You do so via Planning Analytics Administration which is at

https:// <yourPlanningAnalyticsEnvironment>.planning-analytics.ibmcloud.com/monitor/ You can also go to

https:// < yourPlanningAnalyticsEnvironment>.planning-analytics.ibmcloud.com and then click on `Administration':



Once you are in the main administration and monitor screen, click on 'Secure Gateway':

Planning Analytics Administration			Environment: FOPM Services	Andreas KUGELMEIER
	Databases	Secure Gateway		
			Total system resou	rces
TM1 database			60.0% 15.5% Memory used CPU used	29.4% Disk used
Q			Sort: Status 🛊 🛛 🍧 Configur	ation 🕁 Downloads

Once you are in the Secure Gateway panel, click + to create a new gateway.

Secure	• ±	
Gateway	Search	୍

Let's call it RDBMSGateway. We will have the gateway enforce a security token, meaning we will want the Gateway clients to authenticate themselves with a security token generated by the Gateway service. This way, no unauthorized client can connect to the gateway:



New secure gateway	×
RDBMSGateway	
Description(optional)	
(137/149 cha	aracters left)
Security token required to connect clients.	
days. (Linit. 505 days)	
Close Con	tinue

Click 'Continue'. The Gateway will be created.

RDBMSGateway		Close ×
Details Data sources		
Gateway name	Gateway ID	Enabled
RDBMSGateway	nFnKDImLExv_pro	
Security token Token will expi	re in <mark>90</mark> days.	Client connection
eyJhbGci0iJIUzI1NiIsInR5	Expiration 91 days. (Limit	Disconnected : 365
days) C		
Docker command		Created
docker run -it ibmcom/secure-gate	way-client	11/27/2018 13:12:26
	G	
Docker command with securi	ty token	Last modified
docker run -it ibmcom/secure-gate	way-client	11/27/2018 13:12:26
eyJhbGciOiJIUzI1NiIsInR5cCl6lkp2 mF0aW9uX2lkljoibkZuS0RJbUxFe	KVCJ9.eyJjb25maWd1c HZfcHJvZF9uZyIsInJIZ	
·····		

The information in the grey windows is important: It contains $_{\circ}$ $\,$ information on the gateway client files location (this is for Docker only):



	Docker command	
	docker run -it ibmcom/secure-gateway-client nFnKDImLExv_prod_ng	G
0	The gateway ID:	
	Gateway ID	
	nFnKDImLExv_pro	
0	The security token	
	Security token Token will expire in 90 days.	
	eyJhbGciOiJIUzI1NiIsInR5	Limit: 365
	days) 🔿	

If you use Docker as the 'Client' platform to run the secure gateway client, you can just copy and paste the command

docker run -it ibmcom/secure-gateway-client *<GatewayID>* --sectoken *<JWT>* into a Docker command line window. If you do use the native IBM Secure Gateway Client to run the Secure Gateway client, all you will need is the gateway ID and the security token. We will cover this later in the gateway client section *<*Secure Gateway Client via Docker*>*.

In any case, at this time, for now just copy this text into your clipboard by clicking the copy button:

Docker command with security token	
docker run -it ibmcom/secure-gateway-client nFnKDImLExv_prod_ng –sectoken eyJhbGciOiJIUzI1NiIsInR5cCl6lkpXVCJ9.eyJjb25maWd1 mF0aW9uX2lkIjoibkZuS0RJbUxFeHZfcHJvZF9uZyIsInJI2	c z G

Then click 'close' to exit the window.



About the data in the clipboard: Don't worry about accidentally overwriting/losing it, because you can always get it back by selecting your Gateway on the left:

Secure 🛛 🕹 🛣		RDBMSGateway	Close ×
Gateway	h Q	Details Data sources	
Name 🔺	Status		
S EDW	ENABLED	Gateway name Gateway ID Enabled	
😔 GW Ottawa 🌒	ENABLED	RDBMSGateway 🚯 nFnKDImLExv_pro 🛛 🖪	
😔 GW Ottawa 🕕	ENABLED		
	ENABLED.	Security token Token will expire in 90 days. Client connection	
	ENADLED	eyJhbGciOiJIUzI1NiIsInR5	
S Test	ENABLED	dave)	
🗦 Training GW 1 🕴	ENABLED	uays)	
Training GW for Gary S	ENABLED	Docker command Created	
		docker run -it ibmcom/secure-gateway-client 11/27/2018 13:12:26 nFnKDImLExv_prod_ng	
		Docker command with security token Last modified	
		docker run -it ibmcom/secure-gateway-client nFnKDImLExv_prod_ng -sectoken eyJhbGci0iJIUz11NiisInR5cCl6lkpXVCJ9.eyJjb25maWd1c mF0aW9uX2lkljoibkZuS0RJbUxFeHZfcHJvZF9uZyIsInJIZ	
			pdate

6.3 Install and configure the secure gateway client

In this example, we will be covering two options for secure gateway client installation:

- a) Native IBM Secure Gateway client
- b) IBM Secure Gateway client via Docker container

Note that all clients will run/use the same IBM Secure Gateway client software technology to connect and run the client. The difference between the clients lies in how the client gets initiated. Docker will retrieve (and on startup, run) the IBM client from the web:

Docker Command with Secure Token

docker	run -it	: ibmcom	/secure-ga	ateway-cli	ient 🕰	- time	CDC_prod	Lngs	ectoken	
c; []				,-	100	1.14			- 7	c
ć:										Q.I.M
CI						::::::/C				

With the native client installer, the client is physically installed on the on-premises machine.

Configuration options and methods are primarily discussed under the section <Native IBM Secure Gateway Client> (right below). This is because the Docker client essentially runs the same client commands and provides analog command line and configuration capabilities.

Note that during installation, Port 443 (default SSL) needs to be open for outgoing communication in order to facilitate npm installation: During the installation, the installer will connect to npm registry and run npm install to install the dependencies required by Secure Gateway Client. Before the installation, please make sure the machine which the client will be installed on can connect to a npm registry website. npm is configured to use npm, Inc.'s public registry at https://registry.npmjs.org by default. If there is npm Enterprise server in your environment, please whitelist all of the dependencies of Secure Gateway Client on the npm Enterprise server. For the list of dependencies, please refer to <Installation_directory>\ibm\securegateway\client\package.json file.

To validated that the machine that is hosting the Secure Gateway client can connect to the npm registry "ping registry.npmjs.org". If this command fails means that you don't have access to internet or your firewall rules are blocking access to this registry. You may need a proxy server to gain access:

6.3.1 Proxy Setup

If a proxy is required for the install, open a command prompt <u>after</u> initial install and navigate to the nodex.x.x directory (as an example C:\Program Files (x86)\Secure Gateway Client\ibm\node6.9.4). Run the following command to set npm to route through proxys:

npm config set proxy <u>http://url:port</u>

or

npm config set proxy <u>http://username:password@url:port</u>

Then -re-run the client installer. This will let npm pull the files it needs through the proxy. Now, edit the startup config file -%Installation_directory%/ibm/securegateway/client/securegw_service.config:

SECGW_ARGS="-xhttp://proxyserverip:proxyport—service" http_proxy=http://proxyserverip:proxyport



Note: 1stline is for the CAP* servers via outbound port 9000. These are the only options you should need. In the SECGW Args, ignore the examples found in online docs. 2ndline is used for connecting to sgmanager serverviaoutbound port443.

Ensure the SGW service is NOT running and start the SGW client to test. Example for output in case of a correct connection:

.exe installer:	<pre><installation location="">/Securegateway/docs/ <installation location="">/Secure Gateway Client\ibm\securegateway/docs\</installation></installation></pre>
<press co<="" enter="" for="" th="" the=""><th>nmand line></th></press>	nmand line>
[2019-11-20 14:47:46.30	8] [INFO] (Client ID 9108) Setting log level to DEBUG
[2019-11-20 14:47:46.32	3] [DEBUG] (Client ID 9108) The Secure Gateway client will fetch its configuration from https://sgmanager.us-east.securegateway.cloud.
us-east	
[2019-11-20 14:47:46.32]	3] [10#0] (Client ID 9108) The Secure Gateway client will fetch its configuration with proxy http://doi.org/10.00000000000000000000000000000000000
[2019-11-20 14:47:46.52	6] [DEBUG] (Client ID 9108) The Secure Gateway tunnel is connecting for wss://cap-us-east-prd-sg-bm-05.securegateway.appdomain.cloud:
[2019-11-20 14:47:46.52	6] [INFO] (Client ID 9108) The Secure Gateway tunnel is connecting with proxy http://
[2019-11-20 14:47:46.65]	1] [IDFO] (Client ID 9108) The Secure Gateway tunnel is connected
2019-11-20 14:47:46.66	7] [INFO] (Client ID vJwGTwQcxR2_ldc) Your Client ID is vJwGTwQcxR2_ldc
2019-11-20 14:47:46.66	7] [DEBUG] (Client ID Comencembered) Received cert/key pair.

6.3.2 Native IBM Secure Gateway Client

6.3.2.1 Installation

Download your client as per the links in section <Important Links> above. Following is a sample installation on Windows,

1. Run the installer



2. Pick an installation folder:



3. Check the box to run the client as a windows service (recommended) and have it restart automatically:





 In the next screen, you <u>may (you do not have to)</u> provide gateway service connection & (destination) configuration information. You can paste the Gateway ID and token into the provided fields:

Please provide configuration details for gatew	vays you wish to run as part of Secure Gateway Windows Servic
Check this box to run in multi-client mode	Ε
Enter the Gateway Ids, separated by spaces	
nter the Security tokens, separated by	
inter the ACL files, separated by	[
inter the log levels, separated by	[
	a construction of the second s

Or: leave the fields empty and configure after the installation (see <Startup & Configuration> below).

5. Click install

6.3.2.2 Startup & Configuration

We will look at two options:

- (A) manual startup using the secure gateway client console with
 - (i) command line configuration and
 - (ii) config file configuration
- (B) configuration as per config file and start of the secure gateway client as a service

We will cover essential configuration options under section (A) below (because they are identical for both the manual and the service based gateway client). For further information on configuration options please refer to <u>https://console.ng.bluemix.net/docs/services/SecureGateway/sg_021.html#sg_021</u>.



6.3.2.2.1 Manual Startup & Configuration Essentials

1. Start the client:



A secure gateway client console window will open and will prompted you with a question:

Secure Gateway Client		~
Do you want to use the details from the config file (services/securegw_ onfig) to launch the Secure Gateway client[y/n]:	_windows	. C 🔺

2. Gateway Client Startup as per config file

Start of gateway service connection as per connection, access and logging parameters entered during gateway setup (and setup-generated config file): enter Y if you did enter the Gateway ID and token before (enter N otherwise, we will show what you can do in section 4 if you did not enter Gateway ID and token).

If you hit Y and had entered correct Gateway ID and token during installation, the gateway will then automatically start with the corresponding parameters:



-> Success, your gateway connection is established!

If you go to the Planning Analytics control panel now, you will also see that the gateway is connected (it says 'connected' and is also in green):

(B) 1	C A https:// <yourplanningan BM Planning Analytics Conf</yourplanningan 	alyticsEnvironment>.planning-ana	lytics.ibmcloud.com/control/		
				Secure Gateways	
8	Create Secure Gateway	SecGtwyTest2 FUABLED DISCONNECTED	SecureGatewayTest3 Examed DISCONNECTED	 SecGtwyTest ENABLED DISCONNECTED	 RDBMSGateway ENABLED CONNECTED
	· ·	Data sources: 0	Data sources: 2	Data sources: 1	Data sources: 0

3. Gateway Client Startup with manual configuration

Manual entry of gateway service connection, access and logging parameters: If you hit N after the prompt from (2) above, you will be prompted for gateway ID and token:



If you are using Secure Gateway Client Version 1.5 or higher, you will be prompted if you want to use the Client UI:



We will look at the new Client UI functionality in section <Secure Gateway Client UI (as of Client Version 1.5)>, for the time being, please enter \mathbb{N} (because we want to stay within the terminal environment for the time being):





-> Success, your gateway connection is established!

4. Access Control

We have not (yet) configured an Access Control List (ACL) or provided ACL entries. **The access control list 'opens' the Database Server destinations to the Gateway Service on the Cloud. By Default, the Gateway Service on the cloud is DENIED Access to ALL**, meaning **while the tunnel is not established, the Gateway service cannot get anywhere from here.** We will need to allow access to your SQL Server & DB2 machine(s) as per the IP address or the machine name as well as the port. The machine name or FQDN is being resolved on the Secure Gateway Client (not on the cloud).

li> acl allow 192.168.1.15:49244

Entering C11> ac1 allow 192.168.1.15.50000 into the secure gateway command window hence will open ports 49244 (SQL Server) and 50000 (DB2) on 192.168.1.15. Again please note: you do not have to specify an IP address. A machine name is fine too. The name is resolved on the Secure Gateway client (so testing with ping for example will tell you if the client can resolve the destination name).

Instead of manually providing access control information, it is best to have the Secure Gateway client use an ACL file when starting up. Place the ACL file in the client directory¹¹, like the two files ACLGW1.txt & ACLGW2.txt below

Program Files (x86) 🕨 Secure Gateway C	lient 🕨 ibm 🕨 securegateway 🕨	client 🕨	~ 49
rint New folder			
Name	Date modified	Туре	Size
1. lib	2/22/2016 4:31 PM	File folder	
1 licenses	2/22/2016 4:31 PM	File folder	
Inode_modules	2/22/2016 4:31 PM	File folder	
🗼 packaging	2/22/2016 4:31 PM	File folder	
🐌 service	3/2/2016 11:06 AM	File folder	
🗼 upstart	2/22/2016 4:31 PM	File folder	
ACLGW1.txt	3/2/2016 11:12 AM	Text Document	1 KB
ACLOW2 byt	2/2/2016 11:12 AM	Text Document	1 1/10

The ACL files just need to contain the acl allow or deny entries as per your destination requirements and security needs, with the format:

acl allow *<hostname>: <port>* acl deny *<hostname>: <port>* no acl *<hostname>: <port>*

¹¹ ACL file requirements:

[•] Do not leave any residual white spaces.

[•] ACL files must be placed in the <*Installation_directory*>/ibm/securegateway/client directory or relative to that path. Where: <*Installation_directory*> is the name of the client installation directory that you chose.

Accessing on-premises data from IBM Planning Analytics Cloud with IBM Secure Gateway: What is it, how does it work, and how can it be configured?



For example:

acl allow :6666 acl deny localhost:22

or, in our example case: acl allow 192.168.1.15:49244 acl allow 192.168.1.15:50000

The *<hostname>* and *<port>* are optional, but you must enter one or the other. If the host name is omitted, all host names reachable by the client are affected, the same is true when you omit the port number. All port numbers are affected by the rule. For example, an 'acl allow *<hostname>*:' command allows connections to all ports on that host name and denies all other connections. Allow rules are mutually exclusive while deny rules are specific. Lines that are not understood or have an unrecognizable format are ignored. Shortcut commands within this file are not accepted.

Once you have an ACL file, you can configure the gateway client to use the ACL file on startup by including it into the startup config file:

5. The gateway client config file

The gateway client config file allows to start up one or multiple gateway service connection as per pre-specified startup parameters.

Version 1.4.*: The gateway config file `securegw_windows.config' can be found at `C:\Program Files (x86)\Secure Gateway Client\ibm\securegateway\client\service':

Program Files (x86) Secure Gateway Client ibm	▶ securegateway ▶	client 🕨 service	▼ 49
New folder			
Name	Date modified	Туре	Size
securegw_win_service.cmd	3/2/2016 11:06 AM	Windows Comma	1 KB
securegw_win_service.log	3/2/2016 11:06 AM	Text Document	258 KB
securegw_windows.config	3/2/2016 1:16 PM	CONFIG File	1 KB

Version 1.5.*: The gateway config file 'securegw_service.config' can be found at 'C:\Program Files (x86)\Secure Gateway Client\ibm\securegateway\client'

Open 'securegw_windows.config'/'securegw_service.config' with Wordpad. You will see that in case you provided Gateway ID and token (and possibly even ACL file(s), Log Levels, Multi- vs. Single gateway mode) during the gateway client installation¹², the config file will already contain those entries. You can modify the entries as per comments in the config file. Your secure gateway client will then use the config to start up and configure itself accordingly. This is also the file that will be used when starting up the secure gateway client as a service:

#Config file for Secure Gateway Client, to start as a Windows Service. #PLEASE AVOID ANY RESIDUAL WHITE SPACES #The value of MULTI flag needs to be y or Y if client needs to be launched in multi mode. MULTI=N #Enter the gateway id. If launching in multi mode, separate gateway ids by single spaces. GATEWAY_ID=<GatewayID> #Enter the security tokens. If launching in multi mode, separate security tokens by --.

¹² see the screenshot from <In the next screen, you <u>may (you do not have to)</u> provide gateway service connection & (destination) configuration information. You can paste the Gateway ID and token into the provided fields:> Accessing on-premises data from IBM Planning Analytics Cloud with IBM Secure Gateway:



SECTOKEN=<JWT>

#Enter the ACL files. If launching in multi mode, separate ACL files by --.
ACL_FILE=ACLGW1.txt

```
#Enter the log levels. If launching in multi mode, separate log levels by --. NONE,
ERROR, INFO, DEBUG, TRACE
LOGLEVEL=INFO
```

In the above config, we specified an ACL file called ACLGW1.txt. Its contents are:

rint New folder				
Name	Date modified	Туре	Size	
👢 lib	2/22/2016 4:31 PM	File folder		
🐌 licenses	2/22/2016 4:31 PM	File folder		
🐌 node_modules	2/22/2016 4:31 PM	File folder		
👢 packaging	2/22/2016 4:31 PM	File folder		
🐌 service	3/2/2016 11:06 AM	File folder		
👢 upstart	2/22/2016 4:31 PM	File folder		
ACLGW1.txt	3/2/2016 11:12 AM	Text Document		1 KB
ACLGMD bet nt ACLGW1.txt - Notepad p File Edit Format View acl allow 192.168.1 au acl allow 192.168.1 au acl allow 192.168.1	Help 15:1433 .15:49244 .15:50000	Taut Document		1 40

In the following screenshot, you can see that the ACL file ACLGW1.txt will be read and applied on startup as per config file:

[2016-03-02 11:58	:11.310] [INFO] (Client PI) 15620) TH	he current	access	control l
ist is being rese	t and replaced	by the user	provided b	batch file	: ACLGW1	.txt
[2016-03-02 11:58	:11.312] [INFO] (Client PI) 15620) TH	he ACL bat	ch file	process a
ccepts acl allow	192.168.1.15:1	433				
[2016-03-02 11:58	:11.313] [INFO] (Client PI) 15620) TH	he ACL bat	ch file	process a
ccepts acl allow	192.168.1.15:4	9244				
[2016-03-02 11:58	:11.314] [INFO] (Client PI) 15620) TH	he ACL bat	ch file	process a
ccepts acl allow	192.168.1.15:5	0000				
Secure Gateway	Client Access	Control List				
hostname	port	value				
192.168.1.15	1433	Allow				
192.168.1.15	49244	Allow				
192.168.1.15	50000	Allow				

6. Multi-Gateway Mode

If I were to configure the Gateway client in so-called multi-gateway mode, the gateway client would connect to multiple gateway services on the cloud. Here's an example configuration for two gateways:

#Config file for Secure Gateway Client, to start as a Windows Service. #PLEASE AVOID ANY RESIDUAL WHITE SPACES #The value of MULTI flag needs to be y or Y if client needs to be launched in multi mode. MULTI=Y #Enter the gateway id. If launching in multi mode, separate gateway ids by single spaces. GATEWAY_ID=<GatewayID1> <GatewayID2> #Enter the security tokens. If launching in multi mode, separate security tokens by --. SECTOKEN=<JWT1>--<JWT2> #Enter the ACL files. If launching in multi mode, separate ACL files by --. ACL_FILE=ACLGW1.txt--ACLGW2.txt #Enter the log levels. If launching in multi mode, separate log levels by --. NONE, ERROR, INFO, DEBUG, TRACE LOGLEVEL=INFO-INFO

4)

6.3.2.2.2 Secure Gateway Client UI (as of Client Version 1.5)

We will now explore the new Client UI available as of version 1.5:

- 1) Stop the current client (enter 'quit')
- 2) Restart the client and this time, enter Y when prompted if to use the client UI:



3) The UI will open in your default browser. The URL: <u>http://localhost:9003/dashboard</u>

			Enabled D SampleGateway " Client ID: xoWJf62aE8Y_bEO	(+)	
		Connected Cents 1			
	⊕ Notifications (0)	Secure Gateway Client			
	Access Control List	View Logs	Connection Info		
		DISCONNECT			
The l a) V	JI will allow you to: 'iew configuration, stat	us & logs for multip	ole gateways:		
	Enabled SampleGatew Client ID: 9NhDBSNXyGc_	D ay2 - +			
	Enabled SampleGate Client ID: xoWJf62aE8Y_f	way IEO			
b) A	dd gateways:				
	Enable SampleGa			Enabled () SampleGateway2 Client ID: 9NhDBSNXyGc_JBE	
	Client ID: 9NhDBSNXy			Gateway ID	
	SampleG Client ID: xoWJf62aE8	Bateway BY_hEO			



c) Disconnect one or more gateway client connections:

				Enable SampleGa Client ID: 9NhDBSNXy0	d () tteway2 Gc_JBE
	Disconnect C	Clients		×	
	☑ 9 □ x	Select which Clients to disco NhDBSNXyGc_JBE (currently viewin pWJf62aE8Y_hEO	g)		
\oplus Notifications (0			CANCEL	SCONNECT	
Access Cor	ntrol List	View Logs		Connectio	on Info)
		DISCONNECT	I		

d) View ACL access credentials and restrictions & to upload an ACL file:



Access Control List Management

Access Control List entries determine what the client is allowed to access on a host:port basis

Use the tables below to manually input the individual host:port entries. For bulk upload, use the UPLOAD FILE button at the bottom of this page. For more information on the Access Control List, view the readme file in your installation directory.

Allow access (i)	De	eny access (i)	
Resource Hostname : Port (+)	F	Resource Hostname	Port (+)
□ 192.168.1.2.49689			
SELECT ALL DENY SELECTED REMOVE SELECTED		SELECT ALL ALLOW SELECTED	REMOVE SELECTED
UPLOAD F	TILE CLEAR LIS	Т	



f)

e) View logs, change log levels, export logs:

	View L	ogs	
[6/02/2016 01:55:56 PM] [INFO]: The [6/02/2016 01:55:56 PM] [INFO]: Your	Secure Gateway tunnel is Client ID is 9NhDBSNXy	s connected Gc_JBE	
View Connection Info:	nfo Debug War EXPORT L Connection	n 🛛 Error 🖾 Fatal OGS n Information	
	Total MB Outbound	O Active Connections	O Total Connections
SampleGateway2 Details		Host:Port	Inbound Outbound
Chert ID 9NhDBSNXyGc_JBE Gateway ID Last modified by Thursday, 6/02/2016 13:47:33 PM Status Enabled			



6.3.2.2.3 Startup as a Windows Service

If the Secure Gateway Client was configured to run as a service, it will be available under windows services:

Services					
File Action Vi	ew Help				
	à 📑 🛛 📰 🕨 🔲 🕕 🕨				
Services (Loca	Services (Local)				
	ibm-bluemix-secure-	Name	Description	Status	Startup Type
	gateway-client	😩 ibm-bluemix-secure-gateway-client	IBM Bluemi	Started	Automatic .

Logging output – mirroring the type of output you get when using the Secure Gateway Client console in our prior section (the black console screenshots) – will now be generate in the securegw_win_service.log file in C:\Program Files (x86)\Secure Gateway Client\ibm\securegateway\client\service (V 1.4) or C:\Program Files (x86)\Secure Gateway Client\ibm\securegateway\client (V 1.5):

Pro	gram Files (x86) 🕨 Secure Gateway Client 🕨 ibm	n ▶ securegateway ▶	client 🕨 service	▼ 49
Print	New folder			
	Name	Date modified	Туре	Size
	securegw_win_service.cmd	3/2/2016 11:06 AM	Windows Comma	1 KB
	securegw_win_service.log	3/2/2016 3:42 PM	Text Document	258 KB
	securegw_windows.config	3/2/2016 3:33 PM	CONFIG File	2 KB



6.3.3 Secure Gateway Client via Docker

6.3.3.1 Installation

Check compatibility of your client machine & install the Docker client (via Cocker toolbox) as described in <u>https://docs.docker.com/windows/step_one/</u>. Note: contrary to some documentation on Bluemix, Docker toolbox 1.8.0 and higher **is** supported.

Docker will install and configure a lunix virtual machine. The commands that you will be running on Docker will run in that VM. That includes the IBM Secure Gateway Client. In other words: If you use Docker as your means for running the IBM Secure Gateway client, the Gateway client will run in a Docker Container.

6.3.3.2 Startup and configuration

 1. Click to open a Docker Terminal:
 Docker

2. You will see a command/terminal window pop up. Docker will initiate and start up the Container.



3. If you want to test your Docker installation as per Docker installation page suggestion, enter *Docker run Hello-World* and you should see something like



4. You can now start the IBM gateway client in Docker. You can use the Docker command that you copied to the clipboard in section <Create the Gateway Service>. If you do not have it anymore, retrieve it as describe in that same section. So we will paste docker run -it ibmcom/secure-gateway-client <GatewayID> --sectoken <JWT> into the window it and hit enter, and we will see this:



MINGW64:/c/Users/IBM_ADMIN	_ 0	Х
3 docker run -it ibmcom/secure gateway-client f,	ectoken e Eculiosur xxxxxxxxx u enter t loads as nse. The ing locat	a tio
n: http://www.ibm.com/software/sla/sladb.nsf/lilookup/986C7686F22D4D3585 6CB?OpenDocument	257E13004	IEA :
Your use of the components of the package and dependencies constitut eptance of this license agreement. If you do not want to accept the license, immedia the container by closing the terminal window or by entering 'quit' followed by the Then, delete any pulled Docker image from your device.	es your a tely quit ENTER key	icc ; j.
For client documentation, please view the ReadMe located at: .rpm and .deb installers: /opt/ibm/securegateway/docs/ .dmg installer: /Applications/ibm/securegateway/docs/ .msi installer: C:\Program Files (x86)\Secure Gateway Clien egateway\docs\ ***********	t\ibm\sec жиникини	eur Gos
<press command="" enter="" for="" line="" the=""> [2016-03-02 16:55:27.904] [INFO] (Client PID 1) Setting log level to [2016-03-02 16:55:27.9043] [INFO] (Client PID 1) There are no Access Cr entries, the ACL Deny All flag is set to: true [2016-03-02 16:55:29.021] [INFO] (Client PID 1) The Secure Gateway tur neeted [2016-03-02 16:55:29.298] [INFO] (Client PID 1) Your Client ID is Ape 5 cli></press>	INFO ontrol Li nnel is c WAPdGBDG_	ist con _wu

-> As you can see from the terminal window, you've been **successful; your gateway connection is established!**

Note the information at the top of the window (right below the Docker run command we entered):



It says: "You are running the IBM Secure Gateway Client for Bluemix. When you enter the provided docker command the IBM Secure Gateway Client for Bluemix automatically downloads as a Docker image and is executed on your system/device. This is released under an IBM license. The license agreement for IBM Secure Gateway Client for Bluemix is available at the following location:"

=> on first run, Docker will automatically pull and run the latest available IBM Secure Gateway client version. $^{13}_{14}$ $^{14}_{15}$ $^{16}_{16}$

5. Just as with the Windows client, the Docker client was started with ACL Deny All. So we have to provide Access to the SQL Server and DB2 destinations via commands acl allow 192.168.1.15:49244

2. Restart the client by issuing the Docker run command: docker run -it ibmcom/secure-gateway-client...

¹³ the following two docker commands are supported: pull, run

¹⁴ The Secure Gateway Docker client does not support the --multi option. The intent behind the high-availability support from the Docker client is supported by the idea of creating an individual container for each client that you are running, rather than creating a multi-process client in a single container.

¹⁵ Updating the Docker client: Every so often you need to update the Secure Gateway client in order to get the latest version, which can include important security updates and fixes. You are notified when an update is required.

^{1.} To update the Secure Gateway client, issue the following docker command. docker pull ibmcom/secure-gateway-client

¹⁶ At <u>https://docs.docker.com/windows/step_two/</u> you can read a little more about Docker images and containers Accessing on-premises data from IBM Planning Analytics Cloud with IBM Secure Gateway: What is it, how does it work, and how can it be configured?



acl allow 192.168.1.15:50000

<press command="" enter="" for="" line="" the=""></press>	
[2016-03-02 16:55:27.904] [INFO] (Client PID 1)) Setting log level to INFO
[2016-03-02 16:55:27.943] [INF0] (Client PID 1)	There are no Access Control Lis
entries, the ACL Deny All flag is set to: true	2
[2016-03-02 16:55:29.021] [INF0] (Client PID 1)) The Secure Gateway tunnel is co
nected	
[2016-03-02 16:55:29.298] [INF0] (Client PID 1)	∣ Your Client ID is ApeWAPdGBDG_w
5	. –
cli> acl allow 192.168.1.15:49244	
cli> acl allow 192.168.1.15:50000	
cli>	

You can also upload ACL files to Docker. Please refer to the aforementioned URL on Gateway Client configuration for detailed information.

6.4 Secure Gateway Destinations: Data Source Setup and Configuration

Now that we have established a Secure Gateway Tunnel between on-premises and the Planning Analytics Cloud we need to create and configure the destinations (= data sources) for the tunnel:

6.4.1 DSN Setup and Configuration: The Configuration Panel

- 1. In the Planning Analytics Control Panel, click on the secure gateway icon (the lock) and then click on the Tile for the Secure Gateway you want to configure destinations / data sources for. In our example, this was 'RDBMSGateway'.
- 2. You will see the Secure Gateway Dashboard for 'RDBMSGateway'. Click on 'Add Data Source':

B	IBM Planning Analytics Control	
$\langle - \rangle$		Secure Gateways
Ŷ	RDBMSGateway	Overview (Show Details)
6	ENABLED	1
	CONNECTED 6000000000000000000000000000000000000	0.00 MB Total Inbound (24hr) 0.00 MB Total Outbound (24hr) 0.00 MB Total Outbound (24hr)
		Data Sources
	Add Data Source	



3. You will be presented with the **<u>data source configuration panel</u>**:

	TBM Planning Analytics Control		Add Data Source	×
			Add bard oodice	
	RDBMSGateway	Ov	Data Source Name:	
8	ENABLED		Host or IP Address:	
			Port: Protocol: TCP V	
			Reset	
		0.00		
			ODBC Data Source Configuration	
	Created on 2016-03-02T13:55:54.051Z		Driver:	
	Last modified on 2016-03-02T13:55:54.051Z		Database Name:	
			Trusted Connection: No *	
			Reset Create DSN	
	Add Data Source			
			Test DSN	
			Username:	
	4		Password:	
			Reset Test DSN	
			Close	
			Ciuse	

- <u>Data Source Name</u>: The name for your data source. This will be the DSN that you will be using in Turbo-Integrator when connecting to the on-premises database
- <u>Host Name or IP Address</u>: The Host Name or IP address of the on-premises machine running the RDBMS database. This will be the destination machine that the Gateway client will direct the tunnel packet to once the query request has arrived on premises.
- **Port**: The Port on the on-premises machine that the RDBMS database is running on.
- **<u>Protocol</u>**: The Protocol by which you want to communicate with the database (TCP, HTTP, HTTPS, TLS):

Data Source Name:	
Host or IP Address:	
Port:	
Protocol:	TCP 🔻
	TCP
Reset Add	TLS
	HTTP
	HTTPS

• **Driver**: the ODBC driver you want to use. The following drivers are available by default:

ODBC Data Source Co	onfiguratio	n	
Driver:			۳
Database Name:			
Data Source Descript	ion:	IBM DB2 ODBC DRIVER	
Tructed Connection:		IBM DB2 ODBC DRIVER - IBMDBCL1	
rusted connection.		NetezzaSQL	
Boost Oro	to DOM	Oracle in OraClient12Home1	
Reset	ate DSN	SQL Server	
		Teradata	

Other drivers may be installed per request. Due to required legal procedures, the installation of such ODBC drivers may take approximately 2-3 weeks.

- **<u>Data Source Description</u>**: just a description for the DSN (required)
- <u>Trusted Connection</u>: ODBC Driver configuration; specifies if the driver is to establish a 'trusted connection' to the database. Functionalities, features etc. depend on the database. Consult your database-specific documentation for details.
- **User Name**: a user name to test the connection. Only used for testing.
- **Password**: the password for the above user to test the connection. Only used for testing.



6.4.2 DSN Setup and Configuration: SQL Server Example

Configure the Data Source as follows:

Add Data Source	\$	¢
Data Source Name: Host or IP Address: Port: Protocol: Reset Add Data source SQLServer2014	SQLServer2014AK1 192.168.1.15 49244 TCP V AK1 has been created.	
ODBC Data Source Configurati Driver: Database Name: Data Source Description: Trusted Connection: Reset Create DSN DSN SOLServer2014A(1 has	on SQL Server CCC iccc db No	
Test DSN Username: Password: Reset DSN SQLServer2014AK1 test	Sa 	
	Close	1

1. Enter DSN name, destination, port and communication protocol. Then click 'Add':

Data Source Name:	SQLServer2014AK1
Host or IP Address:	192.168.1.15
Port:	49244
Protocol:	TCP 🔻
Reset Add	
Data source SQLServer2014	AK1 has been created

2. Specify the Driver, Database, DB Description and Trusted Connection, then click 'Create DSN':



ODBC Data Source Configuration

Driver:	SQL Server 🔻
Database Name:	ICCC
Data Source Description:	iccc db
Trusted Connection:	No 🔻
Reset Create DSN]
DSN SQLServer2014AK1 has be	een created.

3. Enter a user name and pw and click 'Test DSN'. You should see:

Test DSN		
Username:		sa
Password:		•••••
Reset	Test DSN	
DSN SQLServ	er2014AK1 test	is successful.

Use the RESET Button when making changes to a DSN



6.4.3 DSN Setup and Configuration: DB2 Server Example

For DB2, the DSN Setup and configuration will be very similar to SQL Server. The port is different and so is the test user, but apart from that the configuration is the same:

Add Data Source		×
Data Source Name:	DB2SampleAK1	
Host or IP Address:	192.168.1.15	
Port:	50000	
Protocol:	TCP T	
Reset Add	as been created.	
Data Source Db25ampieAKI	as been created.	
ODBC Data Source Configuration	on	
Driver:	IBM DB2 ODBC DRIVER	
Database Name:	Sample	- 1
Data Source Description:	Sample DB	
Trusted Connection:	No 🔻	1
Reset Create DSN]	
DSN DB2SampleAK1 has been	created.	
Test DSN		
Username:	db2admin	
Password:		
Reset Test DSN		
DSN DB2SampleAK1 test is s	uccessful.	
	Close	

6.4.4 DSN Setup and Configuration: Oracle Example

Below is a sample configuration for an Oracle Database (Express Edition). Use the IP address or machine name of the Oracle Server machine (here 192.168.1.14) and the Oracle Database port (1521 is the default port for OracleXE). For the database name, use the TNS Service name (without the IP address / machine name).

Add Data Source	×
Data Source Name: Host or IP Address: Port: Protocol:	OraXE 192.168.1.14 1521 TCP T
Data source OraXE has bee	n created.
ODBC Data Source Configurat Driver: Database Name: Data Source Description: Trusted Connection: Reset Create DSN	on Oracle in OraClient12Home1 XE OraXE DB No V
DSN OraXE has been create	d.
Test DSN Username: Password: Reset Test DSN	ORAXPRESS
DSN OraXE test is success	ful.
	Close



6.4.5 DSN Troubleshooting

- 1. Ensure that you can access the Database with the selected protocol and user/pw via on-premises ODBC. Use the same protocol for your on-premises test. I.e. do not test with Named Pipes if you are using TCP via the gateway.
- 2. If you have trouble getting ODBC to work (on prem), consult the customer's DB admin team to assist. ODBC setup for some databases can be more involved than for SQL Server for example. DB2 will require you to bind the Database to ODBC and the ODBC driver installation is not as automated as for SQL Server for example.
- 3. Take a look at the logs from the gateway console. Do you get Access control errors? You can also increase the log levels (see config file for the gateway client) to get more information. An ACL access error may look like this:

Test DSN				
Username:	sa			
Password:				
Reset Test DSN An error has occurred while	testing the DSN. Please con	tact administrator.		
MINGW64:/c/Users/IBM_A	DMIN			_ 🗆 X
[2016-03-03 09:36:38 ed to 192.168.1.15:4	.179] [INF0] (Client 9244	PID 1) Connection	#5 is bein	g establis 🔺
[2016-03-03 09:36:38 .168.1.15:49244 refu	.179] [INFO] (Client sed due to Access Co	PID 1) Connection ntrol List	#5 to dest	ination 19
[2016-03-03 09:36:38 ed to 192.168.1.15:4	.300] [INF0] (Client 9244	PID 1) Connection	#6 is bein	g establis
[2016-03-03 09:36:38	.301] [INFO] (Client	PID 1) Connection	#6 to dest	ination 19
				-
	III			H. 1

You see that 'an error has occurred while testing the DSN'. In the log (file), you can see that the connection to 192.168.1.15:49244 was refused due to ACL. Therefore, issuing the command *acl allow 192.168.1.15:49244*

and re-testing will address the issue:

Test DSN					
Username:	sa				
Password:	•••••				
Reset Test DSN					
DSN SQLServer2014AK1 test	is successful.				
MINGW64:/c/Users/IBM_A	DMIN				
[2016-03-03 09:36:38	3.179] [INFO] (C	lient PID	1) Connection	#5 to	destination 19 🔺
[2016-03-03 09:36:38 ed to 192.168.1.15:4	3.300] [INFO] (C 19244	lient PID	1) Connection	#6 is	being establis
[2016-03-03 09:36:38 cli> acl allow 192.1	8.301] [<mark>INFO</mark>] (C 168.1.15:49244	lient PID	1) Connection	#6 to	destination 19
[2016-03-03 09:39:11 ed to 192.168.1.15:4	.865] [INFO] (C 19244	lient PID	1) Connection	#9 is	being establis ≣
[2016-03-03 09:39:12 244 was closed	2.500] [INFO] (C	lient PID	1) Connection	#9 to	192.168.1.15:4
		Ш			▼



4. Changing Log levels: For detailed troubleshooting, Log levels NONE, ERROR, INFO, DEBUG, TRACE are available. In our example configuration using the IBM Secure Gateway Client, we used log level INFO. To change the log level in the IBM client, use the following syntax:

loglevel <ERROR | INFO | DEBUG | TRACE> <process ID> logpath <file> <process ID> In the following example, we are changing the log level for PID 12200 to DEBUG: cli> loglevel DEBUG 12200 [2016-03-03 16:52:01.173] [INFO] (Client PID 12200) Setting log level to DEBUG To change the log level to debug on the Docker client, hit enter in the command line and set the log level to DEBUG or TRACE by entering | DEBUG or | TRACE, like in senter for the command line> [2015-09-21 04:04:40.414] [INFO] The Secure Gateway tunnel is connected cli> 1 DEBUG [2015-09-21 04:04:45.775] [INFO] Setting log level to DEBUG

Note that for reconnecting to a running Docker container, you can simply type docker ps to get a list of running container IDs, and then you can type Docker attach \$ID to get back into the container. Pressing the Enter key will get you back to the CLI prompt at any time once you are inside the container, and you can use the 'C' and 's' commands to check the current status of the gateway and its connections.

- 5. IP address may change. IF you are using IP addresses, make sure it is still the correct one and that it is in line with ACL allow entries. Better: use Machine Names and have DNS lookup take care of the resolution so you do not have to worry about IP's changing.
- 6. ACL commands are case sensitive. If you use machine names in your acl lists, be aware that the machine name may also be case sensitive.
- 7. Enter Gateway IDs and Security Tokens exactly as provided by the Gateway UI.
- 8. Ports may change too. SQL Server for example allows ports to be dynamically assigned. In this case, it is a good practice to assign a specific port to SQL Server and to use this port in the ACL. See <Appendix> for examples.



6.4.6 The Secure Gateway Dashboard

6.4.6.1 The Dashboard with DSNs

After we have configured a DSN, our Secure Gateway Dashboard looks like this:

\bigcirc		Secure Gateways
Ŷ	RDBMSGateway	Overview (Show Details)
ô	ENABLED CONNECTED Created on 2016-03-02113.55.54.0512 Last modified on 2016-03-02113.55.54.0512	0.00 MB Total Inbound (24hr) 0.00 MB Total Outbound (24hr) 0
		Data Sources
	Add Data Source SQLServer2014AK1 EHABLED	DB2SampleAK1 ENABLED

(because the gateway tile is green we know that it is connected, i.e. that a client has established connection)

If we go to the Secure Gateway overview panel (the main secure gateway menu accessed via the lock icon), we see that the gateways 'SecureGatewayTest3' and our 'RDBMSGateway' are connected:

				Secure Gateways		
\$	Create Secure Gateway	SecGtwyTest2 EVABLED DISCONNECTED Data sources: 0	 SecureGatewayTest3 ENABLED CONNECTED Data sources: 2	TmpTest EVABLED DISCONNECTED Data sources: 0	SecGtwyTest EVABLED DISCONNECTED Data sources: 1	RDBMSGateway ENABLED CONNECTED Data sources: 2

They are now both connected because in the example, the secure gateway client was started in multi-gateway mode as described in section <Multi-Gateway Mode>.

6.4.6.2 Changing DSNs

By clicking on the top right corner of a Data Source tile,

SQL Edit / View	
Eur / View	
Disable	
Delete	

you can view and edit the DSN configuration:



SQL Server DSN Example:

SQLServer2014AK1	Details			×
Data Source Name SQLServer2014AK1				
Data Source ID ApeWAPdGBDG_ShQ				
Cloud Host : Port				
Data Source Host : Port				
192.168.1.15	49244	TCP	•	
Created: 2016-03-03T14:18:47:371 Last Modified: 2016-03-03T14:18:47.430	z			
Test DSN				
Username:				
Password:				
Reset Test DS	Ν			
			Update	Close

Note the Cloud destination address

<FQDN>:<Port> (<machine>.integration.ibmcloud.com:<port>):

This is the destination for the DSN and ODBC driver. It is the Cloud Gateway Service destination that on the Gateway client side will get (re-)mapped or 'forwarded' to the on-premises address *192.168.1.15:42944*

DB2 DSN Example:

DB2SampleAK1 Details	×
Data Source Name DB2SampleAK1	
Data Source ID	
ApenAP05D05_0pi	
Cloud Host : Port	
C, ,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	
Data Source Host : Port	
192.168.1.15 50000 TCP *	
Created: 2016-03-03T14:41:36.875Z	
Last Modified: 2016-03-03T14:41:36.926Z	
Test DSN	
Username:	
Password:	
Reset Test DSN	
Up	date Close

Note the Cloud destination address

<FQDN>:<Port> (<machine>.integration.ibmcloud.com:<port>)

This is the destination for the DSN and ODBC driver. It is the Cloud Gateway Service destination that on the Gateway client side will get (re-)mapped or 'forwarded' to the on-premises address *192.168.1.15:50000*



6.4.6.3 Using the DSN

6.4.6.3.1 SQL Server Example

Using the Data Source Name for SQL Server, we can now configure and use an ODBC connection in TI:

a Source Variables	Maps Advanced Sched	ule					
Datasource Type	Data Source Name	SQLServer2014/	AK1				B
) Text	UserName	sa					
ODBO	Password:	•••••	•••••	•••••	••••		
Cube v	Query:	select * from dbo	.SFCC_Action			^	
Cube View V DIBM Cognos Packag Package V	je	<				× >	
) None		☑ Use Unicode					
						F	Previ
	Assessed asset	Target Type	TargetId	TargetId2	Action2Role		
ld	AccessLevel						

6.4.6.3.2 DB2 Example

Using the Data Source Name for DB2, we can now configure and use an ODBC connection in TI:

<u>File Edit H</u> elp					
Data Source Va	riables Maps	Advanced Sched	lule		
Datasource Ty	pe				
0.0000		Data Source Name	: DB2SampleTest		Browse
CODBC					
◯ Text		UserName	db2admin		
		Deserved			
O ODBO		Password:	•••••	••••••	
Cube	\sim	Query:	SELECT * FROM A	KUGELM."ACT":	
				HADDREAD FROM L	
O IBM Cognos	TM1				
Cube View	\sim				
	Deslars				
C IBM Cognos	Fackage				~
Package	\vee		<		>
O None					
			✓ Use Unicode		
					Preview
	ACTNO	ACTKWD	ACTDESC		
1 10.00	0000	MANAGE	MANAGE/ADVISE		
2 20.00	0000	ECOST	ESTIMATE COST		
3 30.00	0000	DEFINE	DEFINE SPECS		
4 40.00	0000	LEADPR	LEAD PROGRAM/E		
5 50.00	0000	SPECS	WRITE SPECS		
6 60.00	0000	LOGIC	DESCRIBE LOGIC		
7 70.00	0000	CODE	CODE PROGRAMS		
8 80.00	0000	TEST	TEST PROGRAMS		
9 90.00	0000	ADMQS	ADM QUERY SYST		
10 100.0	00000	TEACH	TEACH CLASSES		



7. Appendix

7.1 ODBC Configuration

7.1.1 DB2

7.1.1.1 DB2 ODBC Driver Download

IBM Tech Note: <u>https://www-304.ibm.com/support/docview.wss?uid=swg21418043</u> 32bit DB2 ODBC CLI Drivers: <u>https://www-</u> 933.ibm.com/support/fixcentral/swg/selectFixes?parent=ibm%2FInformation%2BManagement&product=

ibm/Information+Management/IBM+Data+Server+Client+Packages&release=10.5.*&platform=Windows +32-bit,+x86&function=fixId&fixids=*odbc_cli*&includeSupersedes=0

64bit DB2 ODBC CLI Drivers: https://www-

<u>933.ibm.com/support/fixcentral/swg/selectFixes?parent=ibm%2FInformation%2BManagement&product=ibm/Information+Management/IBM+Data+Server+Client+Packages&release=10.5.*&platform=Windows+64-bit,+x86&function=fixId&fixids=*odbc_cli*&includeSupersedes=0</u>

7.1.1.2 DB2 ODBC Driver Installation & Registration

1. Download and extract the DB2 ODBC Driver package to a folder. In the below example, we extracted the drivers to folder C:\ibm\DB2\SQLLIB\clidriver\bin

 Include in library Share with 	n * New folder) III •	. 🗆 🧕
Name	Date modified	Туре	Size
1. icc	2/25/2016 7:26 AM	File folder	
1 icc64	2/25/2016 7:26 AM	File folder	
Microsoft.VC80.CRT	2/25/2016 7:26 AM	File folder	
Microsoft.VC80.MFC	2/25/2016 7:26 AM	File folder	
db2app.dll	10/17/2014 2:53 A	Application extens	18,308 Ki
db2app64.dll	10/17/2014 2:13 A	Application extens	20,691 K
db2cli.dll	10/17/2014 2:53 A	Application extens_	24 KI
db2cli.exe	10/17/2014 2:13 A	Application	765 KI
db2cli32.exe	10/17/2014 2:13 A.,	Application	600 Ki
db2cli64.dll	10/17/2014 2:13 A	Application extens	22 Ki
db2clio.dll	10/17/2014 2:13 A	Application extens	5,151 K8

- 2. Open a CMD prompt with Administrator privileges ('run as Administrator') and go to the folder where you extracted the driver package (in our case, C:\ibm\DB2\SQLLIB\clidriver\bin)
- 3. Enter *db2oreg1 –i* to install the driver package (to uninstall it, you would enter *db2org1 –u*).



4. Enter *db2oreg1 –setup* to register the driver:

C:\ibm\DB2\SQLLIB\clidriver\bin>db2oreg1 -setup

7.1.1.3 Bind CLI/ODBC

Bind using the Configuration Assistant (or consult your DB2 documentation on how to bind a DB to ODBC):





Also see

https://www.ibm.com/support/knowledgecenter/SSEPGG_9.7.0/com.ibm.db2.luw.apdv.cli.doc/doc/t0006 343.html

7.1.1.4 Register the DB for ODBC



7.1.1.5 Test the connection

	Configuration Assistant - DB295PE
	Configure Selected Edit View Help ADMINIB-EH0HBNO - DB2
	Alias Nome Target Database # Location 0 SAMPLE SAMPLE C TOOLSDB TOOLSDB C
Configuration Assistant - DB295PF	Test Connection - SAMPLE X Connections Results - Select connection bree
Configure Selected Edit View Help ADMINIB-EH0HBNO - DB2	□ Standard □ OLE DB □ CLI □ □ JDBC
Alias Alias	UserID
Remove Database	Test Connection
Change Password	Cancel Help
CLI Settings	2 of 2 items displayed 1 2 3 3 4 2 1 2 1 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2

If the DB is not properly registered for ODBC access and/or the ODBC driver is not installed and registered, the ODBC box may be grayed out:





7.1.2 SQL Server

7.1.2.1 SQL Server Database Port

SQL Server for allows ports to be dynamically assigned. In this case, it is a good practice to assign a specific port to SQL Server and to use this port in the ACL.

Dynamically assigned port (red):

a Sql Server Configuration Manager			T	CP/IP Properties		
File Action View Help			[Protocol IP Addresses		
 SQL Street Configuration Manager (Local) SQL Street Street Network Configuration (2020) SQL Street Network Configuration (2020) SQL Street Network Configuration (2020) SQL Street Network Configuration SQL Network Client 11.0 Configuration 	Protocol Name Tr Shared Mem Tr Named Pipes Tr TCP/IP	Status Enabled Enabled		TO Prof. B #7 Anabole P Addess C Opens Person C Opens Person C Opens Person C Opens Person C Opens P Consumer Person C Opens C Opens C D Prof C Opens C D Prof C D Prof	По По По По По По По По По По	1 _7

Static Port (green):

Sql Server Configuration Manager			TCP/IP Properties		
File Action View Help			Protocol IP Addresses		
\$Q3 Event Configuration Manager (Local) IS Q2 Serves Services II SQ3 Serves Services II SQ3 Serves Telenoit Configuration (22br) II SQ3 Serves Telenoit 10.Configuration (22br) III, Protocold SQLEDRESS III, Protocold SQLEDRESS III, Protocold SQLEDRESS III Configuration	Protocol Name Tr Shared Mem Tr Named Pipes Tr TCP/IP	Status Enabled Enabled	TC Phd B PA PAdent No. PAdent NO. PADE	11	*